# **University of Cincinnati Counseling and Psychological Services**

# Doctoral Internship Program in Health Service Psychology

**Training Handbook 2025-2026** 

Counseling & Psychological Services 225 Calhoun Street University of Cincinnati Cincinnati, Ohio 45219



#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

MISSION AND VALUES OF THE COUNSELING CENTER	4
OUR CENTER	6
TRAINING PHILOSOPHY AND MODEL	7
IN-PERSON AND VIRTUAL SERVICES	8
APPIC MEMBERSHIP STATUS and APA ACCREDITATION STATUS:	9
TRAINING COMPONENTS: OVERVIEW OF DIRECT SERVICES AND INTERN ACTIVITIES	9
TRAINING SEMINARS	11
REQUIRED HOURS	13
SAMPLE WEEKLY SCHEDULE: APPROXIMATE	13
SALARY AND BENEFITS	15
Vacation Policy, Leave, & Holidays	16
EVALUATION AND INTERN RIGHTS	17
POLICIES	18
Diversity and Non-Discrimination Policy	19
Intern Selection and Academic Preparation Requirements Policy	19
Intern Evaluation, Retention, and Termination Policy	20
Supervision and Records Maintenance Policy	21
Due Process Procedures	23
Grievance Procedures	28
Trainee Eligibility for CAPS Services and Multiple Relationships Policy	30
Stipend, Benefits, and Resources Policy	31
Telesupervision Policy	33
APPENDICES	34
Appendix A: BENEFITS SUMMARY	35
Appendix B: SUPERVISOR EVALUATION OF INTERN PERFORMANCE	40
APPENDIX C: INTERN EVALUATION OF SUPERVISOR FORM	46
APPENDIX D: INTERN EVALUATION OF GROUP SUPERVISOR FORM	48

### University of Cincinnati Counseling & Psychological Services Doctoral Internship Program in Professional Psychology Internship Description



Hello! Thank you for your interest in the Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology at the University of Cincinnati's Counseling & Psychological Services! Please read through our website and if you have any questions, please contact Kea Brown, Psy.D., Training Director at brownkz@ucmail.uc.edu or 513-556-0648.





#### MISSION AND VALUES OF THE COUNSELING CENTER

#### Mission

UC CAPS achieves excellence through a community-based, integrated care approach to psychological services and training that creates an optimal healthy environment for students to grow psychologically, spiritually, and intellectually, as well as achieve wellness and academic success. We seek to encourage holistic well-being through psycho-education, community outreach & consultation, as well as direct clinical services. UC CAPS is committed to personal growth, human development, and promoting understanding and respect for individual, cultural, and role differences.

#### **Vision**

CAPS strives to be a system that encourages emotional, psychological and relational health, and builds a responsible and compassionate community that supports the holistic development and academic success of students.

#### **Values**

- 1. Organized Teamwork: We rely on teamwork and collaboration which values diverse ideas, actively engaged communication and organized action between CAPS staff, the UC community and most importantly students
- 2. Care and respect in all our relationships: we value all experiences and respect and value all individuals, groups and ideas with compassion and care. We value

- openness, honesty, and genuine care and concern for each other
- 3. Student-centered: We meet students where they are and respond to their needs with open communication and respect. We encourage autonomy and informed choice
- 4. Community & Belonging: We contribute to a welcoming campus that values student belonging in programming, service provision, recruitment, curriculum involvement, and advocacy.
- 5. High Quality Accessible Services: dedicated to reducing stigma and barriers to create high quality accessible services
- 6. Data-informed: we encourage innovation, creativity, and quality services that are always informed by data, research, and best practice
- 7. Contemplative Practice: We value presence in our work and a focus on joy, mindfulness and meaningful interaction
- 8. Graduate Training: CAPS is focused on contributing to quality, multi-disciplinary graduate training focused on integrative practice and inter-professional education

#### **Training Aims**

The aim of the training program is to facilitate intern growth from a place of reliance on supervisors to a position of readiness to enter the profession of psychology and provide clinical services to a diverse population of clients. Our dedication to intern growth mimics the UC CAPS dedication to creating an optimal healthy environment for student growth, and our commitment to training is also echoed in the fact that UC identifies training as a part of its mission statement. Furthermore, UC CAPS's commitment to providing understanding and respect for individual, cultural, and role differences is consistent with our desire to provide a multiculturally-informed internship program that will increase intern readiness for working with a variety of diverse clients as they move toward independent practice. Our internship program, therefore, is a natural extension of the UC CAPS mission.

#### **Commitment to Privacy and Confidentiality**

CAPS is compliant with FERPA and the Ohio Revised Code (ORC) regarding our approach to confidential information. All interns will receive training on FERPA at the start of their internship, and are expected to comply with the provided guidelines for handling confidential and private information. In addition to FERPA and ORC regulations, we request that interns do not share any passwords that they may have for their computers, emails, trainings, etc., as a way to promote confidential handling of confidential and sensitive information. Per APA requirements, intern information, including a description of the training year and a copy of all evaluations and certificates are maintained indefinitely in a confidential file that is accessible to the Training Director, Associate Directors, and Executive Director of CAPS.

#### **Commitment to Serving a Diverse Student Population**

Continuing to develop multicultural competency is highly valued at CAPS by all staff and is at the core of our training. Knowledge and skills in issues of culturally-informed care are essential in providing competent and ethical services to our campus community. Individual and cultural diversity is a profession-wide competency identified by the American Psychological Association (APA). Skill-building in this competency area is an emphasis on our internship program and is infused into all aspects of training. Interns at CAPS will participate in Practice Considerations Seminar, in which they will be asked to reflect on their own identities as diverse individuals and as a psychologists-in-training, and explore and how their constellation of identities impacts their work. They will be exposed to ways in which to

expand their knowledge, skills, and awareness of cultural diversity, broadly defined. All of our seminars will incorporate consideration of the American Psychological Association's Multicultural Guidelines (2017) so that our interns leave the internship with skills to help them improve their individual and cultural diversity competency as psychologists-to-be and with the understanding that maintaining competency is a lifelong process. Additionally, all staff at CAPS will participate in regular discussions and trainings to demonstrate our commitment to learning and teaching in a competent manner. Supervision will provide a safe environment for interns to process reactions to and reflections of taking an ecological approach to building multicultural competency. Finally, interns will evaluate staff and the training program on how well we meet our training goals so we can make continual improvements to the program.

Each CAPS staff member is committed to providing services that are culturally-informed and affirming to our diverse clientele. We take a stance against discrimination and oppression in any form and we strive to create an atmosphere of openness, trust, and safety where all attitudes, beliefs, values, and behaviors can be openly shared and explored.

The UC CAPS Internship program's commitment to serving a diverse student population is reflective of the mission of the University of Cincinnati as a whole, as reflected in the university's Notice of Non-Discrimination. An excerpt of that notice is included below:

"The University of Cincinnati does not discriminate on the basis of disability, race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex, age, sexual orientation, veteran status or gender identity and expression in its programs and activities.

The university does not tolerate discrimination, harassment, or retaliation on these bases and takes steps to ensure that students, employees, and third parties are not subject to a hostile environment in University programs or activities."

#### **OUR CENTER**

#### **Location and Staff**

CAPS services take place at 225 Calhoun St, Suite 200, Cincinnati, OH, 45219. We are a large university counseling center with multiple offices, two group rooms, and a meditation room. Interns have access to all of these rooms. CAPS is staffed by a multidisciplinary team of staff clinicians that come from psychology, clinical counseling, marriage and family therapy, and social work backgrounds. We have a support staff team and an office manager who help us with administrative tasks and facilitate insurance and check-in duties, as well as financial matters.

#### Our Collaborative Style and Steps of Care

The interdisciplinary staff at CAPS provides interns the opportunity to work with mental health and wellness professionals from a wide array of theoretical backgrounds and professional interests. We work closely with our colleagues at the Student Wellness Center to provide prevention services across campus and we work closely with our colleagues at University Health Services to refer for medical and medication referrals. CAPS also uses a stepped care model of treatment that presents clients with a variety of therapeutic support

options to meet the level of their needs. This model includes, but is not limited to, access to meditation resources, access to online self-help resources, participation in case management, workshops, group therapy, and short-term individual therapy. We offer interns opportunities to participate in all of these modalities of treatment. In addition to providing therapeutic interventions, CAPS is highly involved in professional activities and programs in the university community via outreach and liaison relationships.

#### Resources

Doctoral interns have their own offices where they conduct individual therapy sessions. Their offices are complete with a computer, telephone, bookshelf, desk chair, and two counseling chairs. The interns are encouraged to personalize their offices with items of their choice. Each office is equipped with a computer that includes a camera to record counseling sessions. Recordings are saved to an encrypted file within our network, accessible only to interns, their supervisors, the training director, the associate directors, and executive director of UC CAPS. Interns are also provided with a unique user ID for the University of Cincinnati system, which requires that they create a password. Interns are not to give this password out to anyone else, and it is their responsibility to keep it confidential.

Interns have two office mailboxes, one for regular correspondence and one for confidential information. The UC CAPS mailroom also has a printer and a fax machine available for interns to use. UC CAPS also has a refrigerator in the central break room, and interns have access to that refrigerator and microwaves located in the central break room. The UC CAPS file room has one large storage room for basic office supplies; the interns have access to these materials. If interns need supplies that are not in inventory, they can place a special order request with the Program Manager.

CAPS has purchased several books and videos for training purposes. They are kept in the trainee suite which houses offices for 10/20 hour placement students (from psychology, clinical mental health counseling, and/or social work disciplines). Psychology interns may borrow these books at any time. Interns also have access to all of the resources available to anyone who works at the University of Cincinnati, most notably, library resources and access to the extensive online journal database.

Interns have access to a variety of assessment instruments to be used under the supervision of the Assessment Coordinator and/or their supervisor.

#### TRAINING PHILOSOPHY AND MODEL

The doctoral internship has its foundation in a generalist, practitioner-scholar model, which is a refinement of the traditional scientist-practitioner model and incorporates a developmental learning model. The primary mission of CAPS is direct service to the University of Cincinnati community. The internship is designed to maximize quality service to that community and provide a challenging and supportive learning environment for interns. Our developmental, practitioner-scholar model views learning as cumulative and sequential with an emphasis on providing a level of training to each intern based on her/his individual learning needs and style. We assist our interns with a progressive advancement and acquisition of clinical skills and professional identity by offering supportive collaboration and modeling with our senior staff clinicians. The goal is to facilitate intern growth from a

reliance on supervisors to a position of independent practice and readiness to enter the profession of psychology.

Our practitioner-scholar model views the doctoral intern as an emerging professional seeking to integrate knowledge, skills, and experiential training in the journey from student to new professional psychologist. We expect that the professional tasks of our interns will increase over time in frequency, intensity, and complexity. The internship builds on the combination of experiences the trainee brings from their previous graduate coursework, practica, research and other professional applied experiences. We stress the importance of consultation and supervision, emphasis on experiential learning, and the integration of scholarly knowledge and research into practice. Interns are encouraged to focus on ongoing growth in counseling skills and abilities via multiple formal and informal learning opportunities during the course of their training. CAPS views development as a lifelong process over one's career and as such, continuing education with all staff is promoted through case conferences, in-service programs, and staff development activities. At CAPS, we expect our interns will consolidate their professional identity and emerge as culturally sensitive, clinically skilled, and ethical psychologists.



#### IN-PERSON AND VIRTUAL SERVICES

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have transitioned to a hybrid model, in which we provide both in-person and virtual formats for most of our therapy services. Our training seminars and meetings at CAPS have transitioned into this hybrid format as well. We have learned to be flexible as a result of the pandemic, and we want all individuals in training to know that we will continue to alter elements of the internship, as needed, to be consistent with university requirements for safety, as well as CAPS's prioritization of student and CAPS staff safety. All of CAPS staff, as well as any individuals in training will be required to follow UC's COVID Careful guidelines for safety while on campus. The core elements of our training program can be delivered both in-person and virtually, so we do not anticipate any interruptions in services even if/when COVID-19 or other concerns emerge in the future. We cannot make guarantees or predictions about the number of direct service hours that interns will accrue amidst major crises such as the pandemic; however, we can guarantee that we will do everything that we can to support our individuals in training and their goals throughout the year. CAPS will take

into account intern development and skills, Ohio guidelines, OPA guidelines, guidelines from the University of Cincinnati, when making decisions about any changes to our programs or COVID-related policies.

#### **APPIC MEMBERSHIP STATUS and APA ACCREDITATION STATUS:**

UC-CAPS received APPIC membership in Fall, 2015, and maintains APPIC membership currently. UC-CAPS is an APA-accredited program. We received APA-accreditation in 2021 for 10 years. Questions related to our accreditation status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation American Psychological Association 750 1st Street, NE, Washington, DC 20002 Phone: (202) 336-5979

Email: <a href="mailto:apaaccred@apa.org">apaaccred@apa.org</a>
Web: <a href="www.apa.org/ed/accreditation">www.apa.org/ed/accreditation</a>

# TRAINING COMPONENTS: OVERVIEW OF DIRECT SERVICES AND INTERNACTIVITIES

#### **OVERVIEW**

The interdisciplinary staff at CAPS provides interns the opportunity to work with mental health and wellness professionals from a wide array of theoretical backgrounds and professional interests. CAPS uses a stepped care model of treatment that presents clients with a variety of therapeutic support options to meet the level of their needs. This model includes, but is not limited to, access to meditation resources, participation in case management, group therapy, and short-term individual therapy. We offer interns opportunities to participate in all of these modalities of treatment. In addition to providing therapeutic interventions, interns are heavily involved in professional activities and programs in the university community via outreach and liaison relationships.

#### RAPID ACCESS CONSULTATIONS (RACS)

RACs are intended to be a brief assessment of client risk factors as well as a short-term problem-solving session in which CAPS clinicians work with clients to clarify presenting concerns and provide brief interventions. Some students engage in RAC appointments-only via our one-session-at-a-time counseling. Interns begin observing RACs during their first weeks post-orientation, and have the opportunity to both see how other staff members conduct these appointments, as well as be observed by staff members when they conduct their first RACs. After completing their observation period, interns conduct up to 8 RACs per week.

#### **BRIEF INDIVIDUAL COUNSELING**

Interns spend approximately 50% of their time conducting individual client appointments. Individual client appointments include RACs, ongoing individual counseling sessions, as well as all follow-up interventions, such as brief case-management appointments. CAPS follows a brief-therapy model of treatment that allows for flexibility in services including services as short as a single session, as well as ongoing therapy appointments to address short-term concerns. Although CAPS does not have a session limit for UC students, generally,

individual therapy occurs with about six sessions or fewer. With consultation from their supervisors, interns will have the opportunity to hone their initial assessment skills, their clinical decision making about a client's appropriateness for our center, and their individual therapy skills. All individual therapy is videotaped as part of the training program.

#### **GROUP COUNSELING**

Groups typically run during Fall and Spring semesters. Interns co-facilitate groups with other senior staff members, and usually facilitate one group in the Fall semester and one group in the Spring semester. Interns may have the opportunity to design and facilitate a new group consistent with the needs of the center during the Summer semester and may have the opportunity to facilitate a group with a fellow intern at that time as well. For a current listing of groups, please use the following link: Meet with a Counselor | University of Cincinnati (uc.edu). All group therapy facilitated without live supervision is videotaped as part of the training program.

#### COUNSELOR ON DUTY COVERAGE

During the second half of their internship, interns may have the opportunity to participate in providing Counselor on Duty (CoD) coverage. CoD coverage includes providing on-call crisis care for students who contact CAPS during the on-call hours, as well as conducting phone consultations with students, staff, family members, etc. who call for support. All on-call coverage takes place during regular business hours, and interns will always have senior staff members with whom they may consult during this experience. No on-call hours occur outside of business hours because CAPS contracts with an outside counseling agency to address crises that are reported during evenings, overnight, and on weekends.

#### ASSESSMENT

Interns will learn the holistic process of assessment, including providing thorough, culturally and contextually sensitive interviews, choosing appropriate assessment instruments, assessing clients, interpreting assessments, writing comprehensive reports, and sharing findings with clients in therapeutic ways. Interns are expected to complete a minimum of four assessments during their internship year.

#### **SUPERVISION**

Doctoral interns will provide supervision to a 10/20 hour trainee (psychology practicum student, or Masters level intern within a counseling or social work program). They will meet with their supervisee, review tapes, and help trainees develop and hone their therapy skills and self-efficacy. Interns will participate in the Supervision Seminar didactic, and receive supervision of supervision to help them feel prepared to take on this role. Supervision of a practicum student is contingent upon the recruitment of 20-hour trainees for the training year. All supervision sessions that a psychology intern has with a 10/20 hour trainee is videotaped as part of the training program.

#### **OUTREACH**

All interns will conduct outreach presentations to the greater UC community as part of their internship program. Interns typically participate in at least three outreach presentations each semester, in addition to the large outreach presentations that all CAPS clinicians conduct a few times per year. Common outreach topics have included: overview of CAPS services, stress management or identifying students in distress. Outreach may also include collaborating with

campus partners to facilitate an event.

#### TRAINING SEMINARS

**Professional Development Seminar:** This seminar includes didactic teaching of information as well as discussion. The content covered includes exploring and processing the identity of being a psychology intern and moving toward the future identity of licensed psychologist, exploring the challenges of being an intern, identifying early career issues, as well as providing a space to gather practical information about EPPP preparation, applying for jobs, and seeking employment in the psychology field.

Case Conceptualization Seminar: This seminar includes didactic teaching of information, discussions of your theoretical orientation, discussions of therapy cases, and case presentations. The content of this seminar includes increasing intern knowledge of different theoretical orientations and identifying how they may be applied to conceptualize the etiology, symptomology, change process, and treatment plan for clients.

**Practice Considerations Seminar:** This seminar is intended to assist doctoral interns in developing the profession-wide competency of "Individual and Cultural Diversity." Interns can expect to engage in a purposeful examination of how an individual's overlapping identities – race, class, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation **and more**, work together to affect an individual's lived experience and mental health. This seminar will be a combination of didactic training and process with an expectation of discussion.

**Group Therapy Seminar:** This seminar includes didactic teaching of information, discussion of your experiences and process in your roles as group facilitators, as well as review of videotape for feedback and learning. The content of this seminar includes: conducting group screenings, learning the development of the group processes, learning how to utilize here-and-now techniques and conducting effective termination rituals. It also provides a place for you to receive support and provide feedback for each other in your group work.

Assessment Seminar: This seminar includes didactic teaching of information, modeling of assessment interview and delivery practices, and discussion of cases. The content of this seminar includes increasing knowledge and skill in the area of psychological assessment. Content also includes conducting effective pre-assessment interviews, choosing appropriate tests for an assessment client, and effectively interpreting those tests. Special attention is paid to assessing clients from diverse backgrounds and making interpretations that are multiculturally appropriate.

**Trauma Seminar:** This seminar includes didactic teaching of information and discussion of cases. The content covered in this seminar includes the neuropsychological basis of trauma, standard assessment tools for trauma-related disorders, DSM-5 criteria for trauma-related disorders, stages of trauma and recovery, evidence-based therapy interventions and trauma-informed care, and clinical decision making based on stages of recovery. It also includes the application of trauma-informed assessment, conceptualization, and interventions to real life case presentations.

**Supervision Seminar:** This seminar includes didactic teaching of information as well as discussion. In addition to didactic experiences, this seminar is embedded with an experiential self-reflective component to integrate the application and embodiment of different culturally sensitive approaches to supervision. The content covered includes laws and ethics of clinical supervision, overview of supervision models, the supervisory relationship, providing feedback and evaluation, reviewing videotape in supervision, cultural considerations, challenges in supervision, countertransference, and terminating the supervisory relationship.

**Single Session:** This seminar includes the didactic teaching of information and considerations of implementing RACs. The content includes increasing intern knowledge on the basis of Single Session Therapy and the application of its components with clients, specifically college students.

**AoD Seminar:** This seminar includes the didactic teaching of information, case consultation, and role playing. The content includes the etiology, experience, and progression of addiction patterns, strategies for assessing and treating substance use problems, and differentiating between clients with AoD concerns who are within and outside of the scope of practice at CAPS.

#### **OTHER LEARNING ACTIVITIES:**

**Staff Meetings:** Interns participate in biweekly staff meetings, during which time all members of UC CAPS come together to check in on how we are feeling, discuss news related to CAPS and the greater UC community, introduce and discuss new policies and procedures, discuss ways that we are collaborating with campus partners, and recognize positive actions taken by fellow CAPS members. All CAPS members, including permanent staff, training staff, and support staff are included in this meeting.

Clinical Team Meetings: Clinical team meetings occur weekly. They are a part of interns' supervision hours, given that the content of these meetings includes presentation and discussion of complex, challenging, or high-risk cases that clinicians have encounters. In these meetings, trainees and staff members consult with each other and give feedback to each other. The entire clinical staff is broken into separate groups to facilitate small-group discussion.

**Intern/Training Director Check-In:** This monthly meeting is discussion based, and intended to be a way that interns have regular, formal contact with the Training Director. The content includes exploring how interns are feeling with their transition to UC CAPS, discussing their goals for themselves during the year, as well as progress they are making, processing challenges that arise, as well as providing space for professional development concerns or other topics that arise.

**Intern Meeting/Self-Care time:** Interns are provided one hour every 2 weeks to spend time together, share more of themselves with each other, and form trusting bonds with each other and support each other during this unique and intense time of training in their lives. If interns prefer, they may spend this time separately focusing on self-care activities.

#### **SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES:**

**Trauma Informed Care:** Although CAPS offers a well-rounded training for interns to grow in their skills as generalists, we also provide specialty training in trauma-informed care. The ARISE program supports students who have experienced sexual assault or gender-based violence. The ARISE program reduces barriers to treatment for these students and provides them with specialized care. Interns are welcome to work with ARISE clients as part of their specialized trauma training. Our trauma focused treatment includes trauma recovery groups that run each semester, ongoing liaisonships with Title IX, and connection to advocate resources available to students on campus.

Suicide Prevention and Mental Health Promotion: CAPS offers opportunities for interns to participate in suicide prevention and mental health promotion efforts with campus and community partners. We provide the Question, Persuade, Refer training (QPR) to many of our campus partners. Interns are welcome to learn and facilitate suicide prevention trainings, and are provided opportunities to collaborate with university mental health groups such as the Bearcat Support Network or the Mental Health Champions.

#### **REQUIRED HOURS**

The CAPS internship is a full-time, paid, 2000-hour experience, of which 25%, or 500 hours, must be direct service or "face-to-face psychological services to patients/clients." These hours are based on APA recommendations as well as requirements in the State of Ohio for licensure purposes. Be aware that some U.S. states and Canadian provinces require different numbers of face-to-face psychotherapy hours for licensure. Interns are responsible for ascertaining the requirements of specific states in which they may wish to practice in the future, and for meeting those requirements. It is best to plan to accumulate the majority of these clinical hours during Fall and Spring semesters, since CAPS typically sees fewer clients in the summer and over winter break. Additionally, with August orientation, no-show appointments, semester breaks, University holidays, and vacations, it is important for interns to accumulate the required clinical and total hours in a deliberate, planned manner.

Additionally, interns are encouraged to check the licensure supervisory requirements of the state/province in which they plan to practice. Some states require that doctoral clinical hours be completed under the supervision of someone licensed for at least 1-3 years (depending on the state/province). At CAPS, OH licensure requirements are prioritized; there currently is no stipulation about post-licensure years of experience for supervisors. CAPS will try to accommodate special requests for working with a particular supervisor but there are no guarantees. For more information on licensure supervisory requirements, see the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards (ASPPB) website: <a href="https://www.asppb.net">www.asppb.net</a>

Our internship received APPIC membership in Fall 2015 and maintains APPIC membership currently.

CAPS hours of operation are 8:00am-5:00pm with rotating days per semester from 10:00am-7:00pm. Senior staff members typically work one late day per week that is decided on at the beginning of each semester, in which they arrive at 10 and leave at 7.

#### SAMPLE WEEKLY SCHEDULE: APPROXIMATE

**Direct Service Hours** 

6-8 hours/week	Rapid Access Consultations or Routine Intakes	
12-14 hours/week	Individual and group therapy	
	Case management/Consultationappointments	
	Assessment interview or testing appointments	
4.5 hours/month (Spring semester only)	Counselor on Duty (COD)/Emergent Coverage	
1 hour/week	Providing supervision to a 10/20-hour placement student receiving	
(Spring semester only)	training at CAPS	
	Subtotal: approximately 20-24 hours/week	

<u>Training Seminars/Activities/Didactic:</u> Rotating: 2 per week, 1 hour each = **2 hours/week** 

_	Seminar Topic	Approximate # of Sessions
Year-long seminars	Case conceptualization	12
	Professional development	12
	Practice considerations	12
	Group therapy	12
	Trauma	12
	Assessment	12
	Supervision	12
	Single session	5
	AoD	7

Weekly Supervision\*

Hours/week	Type of Supervision	
2	Individual Supervision with a Licensed Psychologist (direct supervisor)	
1	Clinical Team (intern is in the same clinical team as their direct supervisor)	
1	Rotating supervision	
	• Group supervision of clinical work with interns with a focus on single-session supervision in the Fall semester (2 hours in the summer)	
	Practice Considerations Supervision	
	Assessment Supervision	
	Group Clinical Team	
0.5-1	Individual Supervision of Group Therapy (w/licensed group co-facilitator)	

		7 \
1	Supervision of supervision (During one semester on	ly)

# Subtotal: 4.5 hours/week during Fall and Summer semesters, 5.5 hours/week during Spring semester

\*25% of supervision can happen with another licensed mental health professional (LISW-S, LPCC-S, and LMFT) based on Ohio licensure rules and requirements.

#### **Other Activities**

Hours/week	Type of Activity	
0.5 (1 hour biweekly)	All-staff meeting	
0.25 (1 hour monthly)	Intern/Training Director check-in	
0.5 (1 hour biweekly)	Intern connection/self-care time	
0.5 (approximate)	Outreach	
1 (during one semester only)	Providing supervision (preparation + face-to-face time)	
1	Professional development/Research/Job search	
6.75-12.75 (approximate)	Paperwork	
5 (1 hour daily)	Lunch	
	Subtotal: approximately 15.5-21.5 hours/week	

**GRAND TOTAL: 45 hours/week** (includes 1-hour lunch break/day)

#### SALARY AND BENEFITS

#### Salary

Interns are paid a yearly salary of \$36,588

#### **Benefits:**

- Medical health insurance
- 10 Vacation days\*, in addition to university holidays \*\*
- 5 days Professional Development
- Negotiate leave time for dissertation work, job search and graduation
- Technologically-equipped office
- University library privileges
- Research time: approximately 4 hours/month based on CAPS clinical flow
  - Reduced rate for UC Metro Program (transit system): http://www.uc.edu/af/facilities/services/ucmetro.html

A minimum of five vacation days <u>must be used</u> at the very end of the internship year to facilitate ease of job search and transition time.

<sup>\*\*</sup> No vacation or holiday time is eligible for cash payout if unused.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Subject to change.

For more in-depth information about benefits, please see the Stipend, Benefits, and Resources Policy, and the Benefits Summary.

#### Vacation Policy, Leave, & Holidays

The Vacation, Leave, & Holidays Policy aims to support the intern in successfully completing their 2000-hour internship, comply with University of Cincinnati's policies and support the work life balance of the intern.

#### Vacation

As Psychology Interns you receive 10 vacation days. You need to request vacation time in advance by sending your supervisor and the Training Director an e-mail listing the dates for approval. Once approved, you are responsible for marking yourself out in Titanium and for managing your client schedule, so that clinical needs of clients can be covered in your absence. You are required to save five vacation days to be used at the end of your internship experience to facilitate ease of job search and transition.

#### Sick Leave

Psychology Interns do not accrue Sick Time as part of their benefit package offered by University of Cincinnati. Interns are encouraged to call off if they are ill. It is to the interns' advantage to work as many days as possible in order to accumulate the hours of clinical and training experience needed to complete the 2000-hour internship, as well as manage the clinical care of clients. Time taken under sick days will not be paid during your internship by Counseling & Psychological Services.

There may be times that the intern will need to work outside of regular scheduled hours if there are several days of absence. The intern must get approval from their supervisor and the Training Director before scheduling this time, and this should be within a week of the absence.

#### Call off Procedure

In the event that you need to call out of the office due to an unplanned need, such as illness or an emergency, it is your responsibility to:

- 1) Call/text your supervisor
- 2) Text the training director
- 3) AND call and leave a message for the administrative staff (513-556-0648) before 8:00 am to inform them of your absence and ask that they inform your clients, and anyone with whom you had a meeting that day.
  - a. The administrative staff will cancel your appointments for the day, so please be sure to keep your client contact information and other appointments updated regularly in Titanium.
  - b. Please be sure that you inform the administrative staff of any higher risk clients on your schedule that day so that they can offer services with the Counselor On Duty, if needed.

In the event that you need to leave the office due to an unplanned need, such as illness or an emergency, it is your responsibility to inform your onsite supervisor, training director, and the administrative staff of any changes made to your workday. It is also part of your responsibility to reflect these changes to your schedule.

#### **Holidays**

You are required to take all 15 official University holidays.

As mentioned above, in order to compensate for vacation time and official University holidays, and to complete the required 2000 hours, you can and should:

- 1) Document time that you happen to be working on internship-related tasks outside of your regular work hours;
- 2) Count professional development time (e.g., APA, other professional conferences or workshops, dissertation defense, job interviewing) toward your total internship hours;

Remember that of the required 2000 hours, you must be sure that at least 500 of these hours are direct service.

#### **EVALUATION AND INTERN RIGHTS**

Interns have the right to expect a fair and regularly scheduled evaluation process. Interns are evaluated throughout the entire internship and will receive formal, written evaluations twice per year. Copies of the evaluation are sent to the Director of Clinical Training at the intern's home institution. Additionally, you will receive informal, verbal feedback from all staff and your supervisor throughout the year. Interns are expected to provide a written evaluation of their supervisor twice per year and will be asked to complete written evaluations of all seminars as well as the entire internship experience at the completion of the internship.

CAPS staff are expected to interact with interns with the utmost respect and professionalism and, in turn, interns are asked to treat CAPS staff in that same manner. However, if concerns about an intern's clinical performance or interpersonal interactions arise, or if interns raise concerns about interactions with CAPS staff, CAPS has developed formal steps regarding Due Process and Grievance Procedures to attempt to resolve these concerns. See those below.

#### COMPETENCIES AND EXPECTATIONS FOR INTERN PERFORMANCE

By the end of their internship, interns are expected to achieve competence in the 9 Competency areas identified by the APA Standards of Accreditation for Health Service Psychology, as well as our site-specific competency of Group Therapy.

The 9 Competency areas identified by the APA Standards of Accreditation for Health Service Psychology include:

- Research
- Ethical and Legal Standards
- Individual and Cultural Diversity
- Professional Values, Attitudes, and Behaviors
- Communication and Interpersonal Skills

- Assessment
- Intervention
- Supervision
- Consultation and Interprofessional/Interdisciplinary Skills.

Please see the "Intern Evaluation, Retention, and Termination Policy" for additional details about how UC CAPS defines successful and unsuccessful completion of the internship program.

# **POLICIES**

#### **Diversity and Non-Discrimination Policy**

University of Cincinnati Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS) Training Program is committed to embracing and celebrating community and belongingness for all of our staff members, trainees, and UC campus community. We are dedicated to promoting an environment of respect and appreciation for the race, ethnicity, national origin, sex, gender identity, age, religious affiliation, sexual orientation, physical/mental ability, and socioeconomic status of all. We take a stance against discrimination and oppression in any form and strive to create an atmosphere of affirmation, openness, trust, and safety where all attitudes, beliefs, values, and behaviors can be openly shared and explored.

For these reasons, our training program is built on the value of multicultural competency. We strive to infuse training with didactic and experiential activities that help to stretch our trainees to be able to work with individuals who differ from them in culture, identity, background, and role. We work to create a safe environment where trainees can examine and challenge their assumptions and biases, knowing that they will be supported in this vulnerable process. Furthermore, we strive to serve as good role models for the challenging and ongoing work of exploring our own assumptions so that we can continue to grow as clinicians and model the value of this work for our trainees.

Given our standard of multicultural competency, we expect all trainees to engage in the introspection and educational activities presented as part of their training, and we require them to achieve competency in individual and cultural diversity (one of the competency areas identified by the APA Standards of Accreditation for Health Service Psychology) as a part of their successful completion of the internship program. We support these requirements as part of our own commitment to honor the diverse and unique lived experiences, and to ensure that trainees are able to provide competent psychological services to all members of the public.

#### **Intern Selection and Academic Preparation Requirements Policy**

#### Application Process:

UC CAPS currently offers 4 full-time internship positions. Students interested in applying for the internship program must submit an online application through the APPIC website (<a href="www.appi.org">www.appi.org</a>) using the APPIC Application for Psychology Internships (AAPI) and must also complete a short information gathering survey through the UC Jobs website.

A complete application consists of the following materials, all of which may be submitted as part of the AAPI if the applicant applies via the APPIC website:

- 1. A cover letter
- 2. A current Curriculum Vitae
- 3. Three letters of recommendation in the format of the AAPI Standardized Reference Form (SRF). Two of those letters must be from persons who have directly supervised the applicant's clinical work. Please submit no more than three letters of recommendation.
- 4. Official transcripts of all graduate coursework.
- 5. A short survey of information via the UC Jobs portal.

#### Application Screening and Interview Processes

UC CAPS bases its selection process on the entire application package noted above; however, applicants who have met the following qualifications prior to beginning internship are considered preferred:

- 1. A minimum of 400 intervention hours;
- 2. A minimum of 20 assessment hours;
- 3. Dissertation proposal defended;
- 4. Some experience or special interest working with diverse populations;
- 5. Current enrollment and good standing in an APA or CPA accredited doctoral program.

All applications are reviewed by the UC CAPS Training Committee using a standard Application Rating Scale and evaluated for potential goodness of fit with the internship program. The Training Committee meets to determine which applicant we wish to invite for interviews based upon the results of this review process. All interviews are conducted via Zoom to minimize the financial impact of interviewing on our interviewees. During the interview process (which lasts one hour: approximately 45 minutes with members of the Training Committee and 15 minutes with the Training Director), interviewees are asked a standard set of questions and scored by each interviewer on their Professionalism/Maturity, Openness/Flexibility/Curiosity to the Process, Experience working with diverse student populations and relevant competency considerations, Clinical/Supervision/Knowledge Base, and Applicable Experience in College Counseling or Other Related Settings. Each interviewee is also provided the opportunity to speak with one of our current interns as a way to gather additional information about our site, if they desire. Their conversation with a current intern is non-evaluative and not considered part of their interview process.

#### <u>Participation in the APPIC Match</u>

The Training Committee holds a meeting within two weeks after the final interviews have been completed to determine applicant rankings. The full application package and information gleaned from the interview process are utilized to determine applicant rankings. As a member of APPIC, UC CAPS participates in the national internship matching process by submitting its applicant rankings for two positions to the National Matching Service. UC CAPS abides by the APPIC policy that no person at this training facility will solicit, accept, or use any ranking-related information from any intern applicant.

Questions regarding any part of the selection process or UC CAPS's academic preparation requirements may be directed to the Training Director.

All interns who either match with UC CAPS via the National Matching Service or are offered a position via the Post-Match Vacancy Service (PMVS) must provide proof of their eligibility to work in the US and must successfully pass a fingerprint-based background check prior to beginning their employment. Instructions for completion of the background check will be sent out to individuals who are matched with UC CAPS or offered a position via PMVS. UC CAPS is unable to determine exactly which activities result in a failure to pass the criminal background check because all activities that emerge in the criminal background checks are reviewed by the UC Criminal Background Check Committee to identify whether or not an applicant will be hired at the university.

The University of Cincinnati Counseling & Psychological Services (UC CAPS) requires that interns demonstrate minimum levels of achievement across all competencies and training elements. Interns are formally evaluated by their primary supervisor twice annually, at the midpoint and end of the internship year. Evaluations are conducted using a standard rating form, which includes comment spaces where supervisors include specific written feedback regarding the interns' performance and progress. The evaluation form includes information about the interns' performance regarding all of UC CAPS's expected training competencies and the related training elements. Supervisors are expected to review these evaluations with the interns and provide an opportunity for discussion at each time point.

A minimum level of achievement on each evaluation is defined as a 3 for each item on each competency, with no element rated less than a 3. For midterm evaluations, scores of 2 or lower on any item indicate areas in which an intern must improve prior to their completion of their internship. The final evaluation is the exit evaluation; therefore, an intern will not pass internship if they have a score of 2 or lower on any item at the end of their internship year. The rating scale for each evaluation is a 5-point scale, with the following rating values: 1 = Remedial, 2 = Beginning/Developing Competence, 3 = Proficient Competence, 4 = Advanced Competence, 5 = Area of Expertise. If an intern receives a score less than a 2 on any training element at the midyear evaluation, or if supervisors have reason to be concerned about the student's performance or progress, the program's Due Process procedures will be initiated. The Due Process guidelines can be found in the UC CAPS Handbook. Interns' final evaluation at the end of the year is their exit evaluation. They must receive an average rating of 3 or above on all competencies, and no ratings below a 3 on all training elements on that exit evaluation, in order to successfully complete the program.

Additionally, all UC CAPS interns are expected to complete 2000 hours of training during the internship year. Meeting the hour requirement and obtaining sufficient ratings on all evaluations demonstrates that the intern has progressed satisfactorily through and completed the internship program. Intern evaluations and certificates of completion are maintained indefinitely by the Training Director in a secure digital file. Intern evaluations and any other relevant feedback to the interns' home doctoral program is provided at minimum at the mid-point and end of the internship year. Doctoral programs are contacted within one month following the end of the internship year and informed that the intern has successfully completed the program. If successful completion of the program comes into question at any point during the internship year, or if an intern enters into the formal review step of the Due Process procedures due to a concern by a faculty member or an inadequate rating on an evaluation, the home doctoral program also is contacted. This contact is intended to ensure that the home doctoral program, which also has a vested interest in the interns' progress, is kept engaged in order to support an intern who may be having difficulties during the internship year. The home doctoral program is notified of any further action that may be taken by UC CAPS as a result of the Due Process procedures, up to and including termination from the program.

In addition to the evaluations described above, interns complete an evaluation of their supervisor and a program evaluation at the mid-point and end of the internship year, in order to provide feedback that will inform any changes or improvements in the training program. All evaluation forms are available in the UC CAPS Handbook and via the UC CAPS M: Drive.

UC CAPS provides all interns with at least four hours of supervision each week during their training year. Two of those hours are provided via weekly individual supervision with their individual supervisor, who is a licensed psychologist. One hour is provided via the weekly clinical team meeting, in which trainees present cases to receive feedback from senior staff members, and participate in group consultation for other staff members seeking consultation. 30 minutes-to-1 hour of supervision is provided via weekly supervision of group therapy. During the Fall and Summer semesters, the other 30 minutes is provided via the biweekly, 60-minute assessment supervision they receive from the assessment coordinator. During the Spring semester of their time at UC CAPS, they only receive 1 hour/monthly assessment supervision (for an avg of 15 minutes/wk) because they complete fewer assessments at that time so that they may focus more on their supervision of a practicum student. During the Spring semester, interns also receive 1 hour of weekly supervision of the supervision that they provide to another trainee at UC CAPS.

Individual supervisors maintain overall responsibility for all supervision of individual clients, group therapy supervisors maintain responsibility for all group therapy clients, and the assessment coordinator maintains responsibility for all assessment clients. Interns change individual supervisors halfway through their year. They also may change group supervisors from semester to semester. They maintain assessment supervision with the assessment coordinator throughout the entire year. At the time when interns change supervisors, their new supervisor becomes responsible for all of their clients within the realm of provided supervision (i.e., group supervisor is responsible for group clients, individual supervisor is responsible for individual clients, etc). By participating in supervision with two separate individual supervisors over the course of the year, and maintaining supervision with their assessment supervisor over the course of the year, all interns receive formal supervision from a minimum of three doctoral-level licensed psychologists over the course of the year.

In addition to the aforementioned formal supervision, interns have ample opportunity for informal supervision and consultation at all times during which they provide clinical services. All supervisors are appropriately credentialed for their role in the program. Contact information for all supervisors is provided to interns at the beginning of the year and updated as it changes throughout the year. UC CAPS staff members leave their doors open when they are not seeing clients so that interns and other trainees may consult with them when needed. Supervisors also regularly check in with their supervisees outside the regularly scheduled supervision hours as needed for support with complex or high risk clients, as part of remediation plans, or for other reasons pertaining to intern support, oversight, and growth.

Interns are formally evaluated by their individual supervisor twice annually, at the midpoint and end of the internship year. Each evaluation is based in part on direct observation by the individual supervisor and is also informed by observations from group supervisors, the assessment supervisor, and any other relevant staff members. Supervisors review these evaluations with the interns and provide an opportunity for discussion at each time point. More information about intern evaluations is included in the UC CAPS Intern Evaluation, Retention, and Termination Policy.

Intern evaluations, certificates of completion, and the intern's individual training plan, defined by the training handbook from that year, are maintained indefinitely by the Training Director in a

secure digital file on the M: drive. Records related to Due Process procedures are maintained in the same file, as described in the UC CAPS Due Process Procedures. Records related to grievances or complaints are kept in a separate secure digital file. Intern evaluations and the certificates of completion are shared with the Director of Clinical Training at the intern's home doctoral program at the mid-point and end of internship year. Remediation plans and notices of termination are shared with the home doctoral program's Director of Clinical Training as described in the UC CAPS Due Process Procedures.

#### **Due Process Procedures**

The clinical training program at the University of Cincinnati's Counseling & Psychological Services (CAPS) is designed with professional and personal growth and development in mind. As a center, we understand the developmental nature of the training process and we expect that there will be some challenges that create problems that need to be addressed, either through an informal or formal process. Due Process provides a framework to respond, act, or dispute in these instances, thereby ensuring that decisions made are not arbitrary or personally based. Our Due Process procedure occurs in a step-wise fashion, such that, as problems increase in persistence, complexity, or disruption to our program, the Due Process procedures involve greater levels of intervention.

#### **DUE PROCESS RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES**

Due process protects the rights of both trainees and the UC CAPS training program, while also carrying responsibilities for both. Due Process procedures are not intended to punish trainees; these procedures are intended to support trainees and the UC CAPS training program by giving guidelines and assistance on how to remediate concerns that arise.

#### Trainees have the right to:

- 1) Be treated in ethical, respectful, and professional ways.
- 2) Receive constructive and timely feedback about their performance.
- 3) Address concerns prior to, during, and after the formal evaluation period.
- 4) Be given every reasonable opportunity to remediate problems.
- 5) Participate in Due Process procedures
- 6) Appeal decisions that the trainee disagrees with, within the limits of this policy.
- 7) Enlist the support of the Ombuds office at any point in time during due process, appeal, or grievance procedures. Contact information for the UC Ombuds office can be found here: https://www.uc.edu/campus-life/ombuds-office.html
- 8) As members of the UC community you are entitled to a workplace free from Gender Equity and Inclusion (Title IX) violations. That includes a workplace free from discrimination on the basis of your actual or perceived sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation, as well as free from sexual violence, dating or domestic violence, and stalking.

#### Trainees have the responsibility to:

- 1) Engage with UC CAPS in a way that is ethical, respectful, and professional.
- 2) To be alert to personal problems that may interfere with professional functioning.
- 3) Make every reasonable attempt to remediate concerns regarding their behavior and competency.
- 4) Endeavor to meet the aims and objectives of the training program.

5) Create and contribute to a workplace that is free from Title IX violations. That includes a workplace free from discrimination on the basis of actual or perceived sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation, as well as free from sexual violence, dating or domestic violence, and stalking.

#### UC CAPS training program has the right to:

- 1) Be treated in ethical, respectful, and professional ways.
- 2) Implement Due Process procedures in the manner ascribed below.
- 3) Make decisions related to remediation for a trainee, including probation, suspension, and termination, within the limits of this policy.

#### UC CAPS training program has the responsibility to:

- 1) Treat all trainees in ethical, respectful, and professional ways.
- 2) Uphold the integrity of the training program and its commitment to providing quality training to trainees by requiring standards of practice and behavior that meet competency benchmarks.
- 3) Make every reasonable attempt to support trainees in remediating behavioral and competency concerns.
- 4) Support trainees to the extent possible in successfully completing the UC CAPS training program.

#### UNSATISFACTORY PROGRESS DURING TRAINING YEAR

When a trainee's progress is considered "unsatisfactory", it typically falls into one or both of two areas.

- 1) Trainee problem behavior
- 2) Skill deficiency

#### **Definition of Problem Behavior**

Behaviors are identified as <u>problem behaviors</u> if they include one or more of the following characteristics:

- 1) The trainee does not acknowledge, understand, or address the problem when it is identified.
- 2) The problem is not merely a reflection of a skill deficit that can be rectified by academic or didactic training.
- 3) The quality of services delivered by the trainee is sufficiently negatively affected.
- 4) The problem is not restricted to one area of professional functioning.
- 5) A disproportionate amount of attention by training personnel is required.
- 6) The trainee's behavior does not change as a function of feedback, remediation efforts, and/or time.
- 7) The trainee's behavior negatively impacts the public view of the agency.
- 8) The problematic behavior negatively impacts other trainees.
- 9) The problematic behavior potentially causes harm to a client.
- 10) The problematic behavior violates appropriate interpersonal communication with agency staff.

#### **Definition of a Skill Deficiency**

Skill deficiencies may be identified at any point in time in the training year, including, but not

limited to times of formal evaluation. If, during the process of formal evaluation, a trainee receives a rating of "1" (Remedial) or "2" (Beginning/Developing Competence) in a competency area, then due process procedures are triggered to ensure that a trainee receives adequate support to improve their skills.

#### **Procedures for Responding to Skill Deficiency or Problem Behaviors**

When supervisors or other faculty/staff members believe that a trainee's behavior is becoming problematic or that a trainee is having difficulty consistently demonstrating the expected level of competence, the first step in addressing the concern should be to raise the concern with the trainee directly and as soon as feasible in an attempt to informally resolve the problem. This may include increased supervision, didactic training and/or structured readings. The supervisor or faculty/staff member should inform the Training Director of the action/plan taken so that proper documentation can be kept and to assure that the trainee is receiving the adequate support needed. The supervisor or faculty/staff member who raises the concern will monitor the outcome. If the person who raised the concern is *not* the supervisor of the trainee, then they will monitor the outcome in conjunction with the trainee's supervisor. The monitoring of the concern raised should be accompanied by utilization of the evaluation form on Appendix B to track trainees progress. The supervisor is also encouraged to bring the concern to the Supervisor's Meetings so as to identify additional clarity of thought and consultation regarding the concern. Most concerns that occur during the training year are typically resolved through informal intervention; however, if the problem behavior or skill deficiency persists following an attempt to resolve the issue informally, the supervisor will meet with the Training Director and through discussion they must both agree that a more formal process is needed. If the supervisor is the Training Director, then the supervisor will meet with the associate director and through discussion they both must agree that a more formal process is needed. In the case of all steps of Due Process, if a faculty/staff member involved in the Due Process procedures is unavailable, then that person, or the Executive Director may name a person to serve the role of the unavailable person. If a more formal process is needed, then the faculty/staff member, or another person named by the Executive Director will contact the Labor and Employees Relations Division and the following procedure will be followed:

- 1) **Notice:** The trainee will be notified that the concern has been raised to a formal level of review, and that a Hearing will be held.
- 2) **Hearing:** The supervisor or faculty/staff member will hold a Hearing with the Training Director and trainee within 10 working days of issuing a notice of Formal Review to discuss the problem and determine what action needs to be taken to address the issue. If the Training Director is the supervisor who is raising the issue, an additional faculty member who works directly with the trainee will be included at the Hearing. The trainee will have the opportunity to present their perspective at the Hearing, and/or to provide a written statement related to their response to the problem.
- 3) **Outcome and Next Steps:** The result of the Hearing will be any of the following potential action steps listed below, to be determined by the Training Director and other faculty/staff member who were present at the Hearing. This outcome will be communicated to the trainee in writing within 5 working days of the Hearing.

#### Potential Action Steps as a Result of a Hearing

One or more of the following responses will be made following a Hearing.

- 1) <u>Acknowledgement Notice</u> the trainee is given formal acknowledgement that a skill deficiency or problem behavior exists. This notice
  - a. Informs that UC CAPS is aware of and concerned with the problem.
  - b. Describes the unsatisfactory behavior or skill deficiency.
  - c. Informs that UC CAPS will work with the trainee to specify the steps necessary to rectify the problem or skill deficits
  - d. Includes a statement that the problem is not significant enough to require further remedial action at this time.
  - e. This step does not include or necessitate notifying the trainee's home graduate program.
- 2) Remediation Plan the trainee is given formal acknowledgement that a skill deficiency or problem behavior exists and that the trainee will be placed on a Remediation Plan. The Remediation Plan requires that the supervisors and Training Director will actively and systematically monitor, for a specific length of time, the degree to which the trainee addresses, changes, and/or otherwise improves the problematic behavior or skill deficit. The implementation of a Remediation Plan will represent a probationary status for the trainee. The length of the probation period will depend upon the nature of the problem, and will be determined by the trainee's supervisor and the Training Director. A written Remediation Plan will be shared with the trainee and the trainee's home graduate program including:
  - a. Notification that the trainee is on a remediation plan for a problem behavior or skill deficiency.
  - b. Description of the behavior or skills associated with the problem
  - c. Description of the actions required to correct the behavior or skill deficiency
  - d. Time frame during which the problem behavior or skill deficiency is expected to be ameliorated
  - e. The procedures that will be used to identify whether the problem has been appropriately remediated.
  - f. Possible consequences if the problem is not corrected.
  - g. Remediation Plans may (but are not required to) include Schedule Modification as described below:
    - i. <u>Schedule Modification</u> occurs when the trainee's schedule is modified to allow the trainee to focus on remediation of the area of concern. It may occur at any time during the Due Process Procedures, but is most likely to occur as part of a remediation plan. Examples of possible modifications include:
      - 1. Increasing the amount of supervision, either with the same or other supervisors
      - 2. Changing the format, emphasis, or focus of supervision
      - 3. Recommending personal therapy
      - 4. Reducing the trainee's clinical or other workload.

Within 5 working days after the end of the time frame identified by "d" above, the Training Director will solicit input from the trainee and will hold a meeting with the supervisor to determine whether or not the problem has been ameliorated. The training director will then provide a written statement to the trainee indicating whether or not the

problem has been remediated. This statement will become a part of the trainee's permanent file, and will be shared with the trainee's home graduate program. If the problem has not been remediated, the Training Director may choose to move to one of the higher levels of intervention listed below, or may choose to extend the Remediation Plan. The extended Remediation Plan will include all of the information mentioned above, and the extended time frame will be specified clearly.

- 3) <u>Clinical Privileges Suspension</u> the trainee is suspended from all clinical service for a designated period of time. During that time the program may support the trainee in obtaining additional didactic training, close mentorship or engage in another form of remediation. The length of the suspension period will depend upon the nature of the problem and will be determined by the trainee's supervisor and the Training Director, in consultation with the Labor and Employees Relations division. The trainee will be given a letter specifying the suspension plan, which will include the following:
  - a. Description of the unsatisfactory behavior
    - i. Actions required to correct the unsatisfactory behavior
    - ii. Timeline during which the problem is expected to be ameliorated
    - iii. Explanation of the procedure that will be used to determine whether satisfactory progress has been made
    - iv. Possible consequences if the problem is not corrected within 5 working days after the end of the suspension period, as designated by the timeline identified in "2)" above, the Training Director will provide to the trainee and the trainee's home graduate program a written statement indicating whether the problem has been remediated to a level that indicates the suspension of clinical activities can be lifted. The statement may include a recommendation to place the trainee on probationary status with a remediation plan. In this case, the process in #2 above would be followed. This statement will become part of the trainee's permanent file.
- 4) Termination If the problem is not rectified through the above processes, or if the problem represents gross misconduct or ethical violations that have the potential to cause harm, the trainee's placement within the training program may be terminated. The decision to terminate a trainee's position would be made by the Training Committee in consultation with the University of Cincinnati's Labor and Employee Relation's Division. It would represent a discontinuation of the trainee's participation in all aspects of the training program. The Training Committee would make this determination within 10 working days or at the next soonest Training Committee meeting, whichever occurs first. The Training Director may decide to suspend a trainee's clinical activities during this period prior to a final decision being made, if warranted. The training program will notify APPIC and the trainee's home graduate program of the decision.

All time limits mentioned above may be extended by mutual consent within a reasonable limit.

#### **Appeal Procedures**

If a trainee does not agree with a decision made at any step during the Due Process procedures, the trainee may request an Appeals Hearing before the Training Committee. This request must be made in writing to the Training Director within 5 working days of notification regarding the decision with which the trainee is dissatisfied. If requested, the Appeals Hearing will be

conducted by a review panel convened by the Training Director (or designee) and consisting of him/her/themselves and at least two other members of training faculty who work directly with the trainee. The trainee may request a specific member of the training faculty to serve on the review panel. The Appeals Hearing will be held within 10 working days after the trainee's request. The trainee may submit to the committee any written statements deemed appropriate. The review panel will review all written materials and have an opportunity to interview the parties involved or any other individuals with relevant information. The review panel may uphold the decisions made previously or may modify them. Decisions made by the review panel will be shared with the trainee and the trainee's home graduate program within 5 working days after the Appeals Hearing.

If the trainee is dissatisfied with the decision of the review panel, he/she/they may appeal the decision, in writing, to the Executive Director. The trainee must make this request to the Executive Director within 5 working days after they were informed of the decision made by the review panel in the Appeals Hearing. The Executive Director has final discretion regarding outcome. He/she/they will interview the parties involved and any individuals with relevant information, and will make a decision within 5 working days after receiving the appeal request from the trainee. Decisions made during these appeal processes will be shared with the trainee and the trainee's home graduate program.

#### **Racial or Sexual Harassment Procedures**

The training program is committed to maintaining an atmosphere conducive to personal and professional development. This requires an environment in which each trainee feels safe and respected. All complaints related to racial or sexual harassment that involves trainees, whether the trainee is the alleged victim or perpetrator, will be handled in strict compliance with college procedures described in the University of Cincinnati's Discriminatory Harassment Policy located here:

https://www.uc.edu/content/dam/uc/hr/labor\_and\_employee\_relations/policies/11\_02\_discrimina\_tory\_harassment.pdf or the University of Cincinnati's Policy Statement on Sexual Harassment, located here: Policy Statement on Sexual Harassment.1.pdf. The university's procedures take precedence over the conflict resolution steps mentioned previously. If you would like to know more about your rights and resources on campus you can consult the UC Notice of Non-Discrimination at <a href="http://www.uc.edu/about/policies/non-discrimination.html">http://www.uc.edu/about/policies/non-discrimination.html</a> or you can consult the Office of Equal Opportunity (Title IX office) at Office of Equal Opportunity | University of Cincinnati.

#### **Storage**

All due process documentation is maintained indefinitely by the Training Director and stored with the intern's training documents in a secure, digital file at UC CAPS.

#### **Grievance Procedures**

As a center, we expect that there may be some conflict or challenges that create problems that need to be addressed, either through an informal or formal process. We encourage trainees to discuss conflicts with the associated parties and resolve conflicts informally when possible, seeking consultation as needed. When informal discussion and resolution is not possible or insufficient, this document provides a formal mechanism for the counseling center to respond to issues of concern. Trainees may raise concerns about supervisors, other faculty members, other

trainees, or any other aspect of the training program. Trainees pursuing grievances should know that no negative repercussions from CAPS will result when their claims are made in good faith. In the case of all steps of the Grievance Process, if a faculty/staff member involved in the Grievance Process is unavailable, then that person, or the Executive Director may name a person to serve to role of the unavailable person. Trainees are expected to follow these guidelines in addressing any grievance:

#### Formal Review:

- A. If a trainee has a complaint regarding the training program, the training environment, a training decision, their supervisor, another staff member, or a fellow trainee that cannot be resolved using informal means, they may submit a letter of complaint to the Training Director. In the event that the complaint is regarding the Training Director, this letter should be submitted to the Executive Director.
- B. Within 5 working days after receiving the letter, the Training Director or Executive Director will call a meeting with the leadership team (Training Director, Executive Director, and Associate Director) to determine whether it is appropriate for CAPS to follow up on the grievance. Examples of times when CAPS may not follow up on a grievance include: the grievance has no merit or the grievance must be handled through the Office of Equal Opportunity and Access because it deals with racial or sexual harassment.
- C. Within 5 working days after the meeting, the Training Director will inform the trainee whether or not CAPS will be following up on the grievance and will inform of next steps, if any. If CAPS is not following up on the grievance, the Training Director will inform the trainee why.
- D. If CAPS will be following up on the grievance, then the Training Director will inform the grieved person (also within 5 working days after the meeting of the leadership team) that they have a grievance brought up about them, and that they will have 5 working days to submit a response in writing.
- E. After the grieved person has submitted their response, or after 5 working days pass, whichever occurs first, The Training Director (or Executive Director, if appropriate) will have 10 working days within which to meet with the trainee and the individual being grieved. In some cases, the Training Director or Executive Director may wish to meet with the trainee and the individual being grieved separately first. The goal of any of these meetings is to develop a plan of action to resolve the matter. The plan of action will include:
  - a. The Behavior/issue associated with the grievance.
  - b. The specific steps to rectify the problem.
  - c. Timeframe during which the problem will be rectified.
  - d. Procedures designed to ascertain whether the problem has been appropriately rectified.
- F. The Training Director or Executive Director will document the process and outcome of

- the meeting. The trainee and the individual being grieved, if applicable, will be asked to report back to the Training Director or the Executive Director in writing within 10 working days regarding whether the issue has been adequately resolved.
- G. If the trainee is dissatisfied with the decision of the Training Director and/or the plan of action fails, the Training Director or Executive Director will convene a review panel consisting of him/her/themselves and at least two other members of the training faculty within 10 working days. The trainee may request a certain member of the training faculty to serve on the review panel. The review panel will review all written materials and have an opportunity to interview the parties involved or any other individuals with relevant information. The review panel has final discretion regarding outcome.
- H. If the trainee remains dissatisfied or the review panel determines that the grievance cannot be resolved internally or is not appropriate to be resolved internally, then the issue will be turned over to Human Resources to initiate the university's due process procedures.

#### **Racial or Sexual Harassment Procedures**

The training program is committed to maintaining an atmosphere conducive to personal and professional development. This requires an environment in which each trainee feels safe and respected. All complaints related to racial or sexual harassment that involves trainees, whether the trainee is the alleged victim or perpetrator, will be handled in strict compliance with college procedures described in the University of Cincinnati's Discriminatory Harassment Policy located here:

https://www.uc.edu/content/dam/uc/hr/labor\_and\_employee\_relations/policies/11\_02\_discrimina tory\_harassment.pdf or the University of Cincinnati's Policy Statement on Sexual Harassment, located here: Policy Statement on Sexual Harassment.1.pdf. The university's procedures take precedence over the conflict resolution steps mentioned previously. If you would like to know more about your rights and resources on campus you can consult the UC Notice of Non-Discrimination at <a href="http://www.uc.edu/about/policies/non-discrimination.html">http://www.uc.edu/about/policies/non-discrimination.html</a> or you can consult the Office of Equal Opportunity | University of Cincinnati.

#### **Storage**

All grievance documentation is maintained indefinitely by the Training Director and stored separately from the intern's training documents in a secure, digital file at UC CAPS.

#### Trainee Eligibility for CAPS Services and Multiple Relationships Policy

Training of counselors is an area particularly vulnerable to multiple relationship issues. Consultation with the Training Director and/or Training Committee should be sought when there is a question about a potentially problematic multiple relationship involving trainees or potential trainees. The mental health graduate departments at the University of Cincinnati (e.g., Clinical Psychology, Social Work, Counselor Education, Mental Health Counseling) have been informed of our policy below which prohibits the involvement of their students in the CAPS training program should their students seek counseling services at CAPS. Faculty members in those departments have been asked to communicate this information to their current and incoming students to help ensure that their students can make informed decisions about pursuing

counseling services. The following guidelines will be used in the determination of applicant eligibility:

- Relinquishing future training opportunities: UC students, including graduate students from any of the University of Cincinnati's mental health graduate departments, who engage in CAPS clinical services (beyond an intake session or crisis services) will not be eligible to apply for a future practicum or internship position at CAPS.
- <u>Seeking counseling after receiving training:</u> Any practicum student or intern at CAPS is not eligible for any current/future clinical services at CAPS.
- Referrals: A list of community referrals will be provided to any current/past trainee if they are in need of mental health services.
- <u>Changes to this policy:</u> CAPS reserves the right to identify additional academic programs that apply to this policy in the future, given the potential for other types of training experiences that may create problematic dual relationships, or changes in names of academic programs.

Some additional standards to minimize or prevent problematic relationships are listed below:

- It is unethical and prohibited for a professional CAPS staff member to engage in a sexual relationship with a CAPS trainee.
- CAPS trainees must not provide services (e.g., counseling, teaching, workshops/outreach) to graduate students from their own training program/academic department or students from related departments with whom they may share courses.
- CAPS counselors should not provide therapy to UC students enrolled in a class they are currently teaching.

#### Stipend, Benefits, and Resources Policy

UC CAPS psychology interns receive a yearly salary of \$36,588. As employees of UC CAPS, interns enroll themselves in a retirement plan, and are eligible to receive comprehensive health benefits for themselves and their families. Interns also receive 10 days of Vacation time, and 15 paid state holidays. Questions regarding specific benefits packages can be directed to the University of Cincinnati's Human Resources department at benefits@uc.edu. Interns should submit requests for time off to their primary supervisor and the training director at least two weeks in advance of the anticipated leave date. Interns are responsible for communicating anticipated absences to all supervisors for whom work will be missed. Sick leave must be communicated to the intern's primary supervisor, training director, and the administrative staff as soon as the intern is physically able to do so. The training director and supervisors are available for any questions related to time off.

UC CAPS psychology interns have access to numerous resources. Interns have their own offices where they conduct individual therapy sessions. Their offices are complete with a computer, telephone, bookshelf, desk chair, and two counseling chairs. The interns are encouraged to decorate their offices as appropriate with items of their choice. Each office is equipped with a computer that includes a camera to record counseling sessions.

Interns have access to a variety of assessment instruments to be used under the supervision of the Assessment Coordinator and/or their supervisor. Instruments available to them include the following:

Learning/IQ/Achievement	Kane Learning Difficulties Assessment (KLDA) Manual	
Measures	Test Behavior Observation Guide	
	Nelson-Denny Reading Test, Forms I and J	
	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale – Fifth Edition (WAIS-V)	
	Wechsler Individual Achievement Test, 4th edition (WIAT-IV)	
	Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, 2nd Edition (WASI-II)	
	<u> </u>	
	Wide Range Achievement Test, 5th Edition (WRAT V) (blue and	
	green)	
Autism Measures	Monteiro Interview Guidelines for Diagnosing the Autism Spectrum,	
	Second Edition (MIGDAS-2)	
	Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ)	
	Social Responsiveness Scale, Second Edition (SRS-2)	
Attention/Concentration	Barkley Adult ADHD Rating Scale-IV (BAARS-IV)	
Measures	Barkley Deficits in Executive Functioning Scale (BDEFS for Adults)	
Wiedsules	Conners' Adult ADHD Rating Scale (CAARS)	
	Ruff 2&7 Selective Attention Test	
N. 1.M		
Neuropsych Measures	Cognitive Symptoms Checklist	
	Color Trails Test	
	Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised (HVLT-R)	
	Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT)	
	Rey Complex Figure Test and Recognition Trial	
	Ruff-Light Trail Learning Test (RULIT)	
	The Stroop Color and Word Test	
	Wisconsin Card Sorting Test	
Mood Disorder	Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT)	
Symptoms/Other	Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI)	
Symptoms/Other	Beck Depression Inventory, Second Edition (BDI-II)	
	Burnout Assessment Tool (BAT)	
	Cognitive Distortion Scales (CDS)	
	Detailed Assessment of PTSD Symptoms (DAPS)	
	DSM 5 Cross-Cutting Symptom Measure	
	Eating Disorder Inventory – 3 (EDI-3)	
	Inventory of Interpersonal Problems	
	Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory, Third edition (MMPI 3)	
	Multidimensional Anxiety Questionnaire (MAQ)	
	Personality Assessment Inventory – Revised (PAI-R)	
	Personality Assessment System (PAS; screener/short version of PAI)	
	Personal Experience Screening Questionnaire for Adults (PESQ-A)	
	Rorschach Psychodiagnostic Test	
	Rotter's Incomplete Sentences Blank, Second Edition (RISB-2)	
	Adult Substance Use Subtle Screening Inventory, Fourth edition (SASSI-	
	4)	
	Symptom Checklist-90-Revised (SCL-90-R)	
	Sachs Sentence Completion	
	Outcome Questionnaire 45.2 (OQ-45.2)	
	Yale-Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale (Y-BOCS)	

Interns also have access to other rooms and resources provided all employees at UC CAPS. They have two office mailboxes, one for regular correspondence and one for confidential information. The UC CAPS mailroom also has a printer and a fax machine available for interns to use. The UC CAPS file room has one large storage room for basic office supplies; the interns have access

to these materials. If interns need supplies that are not in inventory, they can place a special order request with the Program Manager. Additionally, interns have access to other CAPS rooms and resources, including the library of psychological books, and the meditation room. Interns also have access to the support staff who work with UC staff to help welcome students, manage payment and insurance, as well as schedule and cancel therapy sessions as needed.

Lastly, interns also have access to the resources provided by the University of Cincinnati, which include but are not limited to the university library system and subscription to journals, the university's IT department and assistance, and admission to the university's shuttle system.

For more information, go to:

New Employee Benefit Information (sharepoint.com)

HR Policies & Procedures (sharepoint.com)

#### **Telesupervision Policy**

The training staff at University of Cincinnati Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS) uses both in-person and telesupervision as ways to support individuals in training. Telesupervision allows individuals in training to receive supervision so that they may continue to provide high quality clinical services even when their supervisors are not present in-person. It also allows for regular professional socialization and consultation via telehealth means. In order to participate in telesupervision, all individuals in training must complete a telemental health training designated by us at CAPS and/or show evidence of having completed a previous telemental health training.

The provision of telesupervision is consistent with our training aims of facilitating growth from reliance on supervisors to a position of readiness to enter the field of psychology and provide clinical services to a diverse population of clients. Telesupervision allows our individuals in training to continue their growth and development during this time. Also, their increased familiarity with telehealth platforms increases their flexibility and competence to provide both inperson and virtual services to a diverse clientele in the future. Telementalhealth services are particularly supportive of individuals who are unable to attend traditional therapy appointments due to financial reasons (inability to take time off work), reasons related to ability status, or geographic reasons (i.e. individuals in rural areas). Because of this, telesupervision also helps to support individuals in training with their growth toward providing services to a diverse population of clients.

We view supervision as essential to the professional growth and development of all trainees and we place importance on relationship building within this process. Because CAPS is a small center, all trainees interact with all members of CAPS, including supervisors, early on throughout their orientation to our center. They also encounter multiple opportunities for informal relationship building via their mutual participation in Circle Questions, meetings, and through staff chats via Microsoft Teams. Formally, supervisors and supervisees also solidify their relationship by beginning supervision with a discussion of supervisee goals for the year, as well as identifying areas of strength and the ways in which supervisees would like to grow. These conversations are facilitated via the completion of the Supervision Agreement and TeleSupervision Agreement, which clarify expectations and formalize goals.

Supervisors have full professional responsibility for all of their supervisees' clinical cases in this

telementalhealth format. They are responsible for reviewing the TeleSupervision Agreement with their supervisees, and ensuring adherence to telementalhealth best practices. All CAPS members, including supervisees, must never discuss confidential information with their supervisors or clients without being connected to the UC Virtual Private Network (VPN), and also using our HIPAA-compliant version of Zoom available through Therapy Assistance Online (TAO). All recordings that occur within the context of clinical work must be saved to the supervisees' folder within our encrypted and secure M: drive and must not be saved anywhere else. Supervisors viewing those videos access them from the encrypted and secure M: drive, and do not save the videos anywhere else.

## **APPENDICES**

#### **Appendix A: BENEFITS SUMMARY**

# **Benefits Summary**

Athletic and Psychology Interns, Occ Health Residents and Special Fellows Effective January 1, 2019



The following is a summary of employee benefits based on full-time employment and regular part-time employment for employees appointed at 75% FTE or greater.

You will make your benefit elections (excluding retirement) online utilizing our online Employee Self Service (ESS) tool. You will be able to access ESS effective on your date of hire.

Coverage will begin on the first day of the month after 28 days of employment have been completed. For detailed information and interpretation of any benefits, refer to the appropriate policy and procedure, collective bargaining agreement, or contact the Human Resources Department at 513-556-6381 or Benefits@UC.edu.

This document provides an overview of benefits available to University of Cincinnati employees. For detailed information, refer to rules or the plan documents which govern the plans. In the case of any conflict between this document and the official document, the plan document governs.

UC Benefits

Choose  $\mathbb{W}\mathrm{ell}$ 



UCB	Voluntary Retirement Plans 403(b) and 457	Ohio Alternative Retirement Plan (ARP) (100% FTE required)	Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)
UC Benefits Choose Well	You can supplement your retirement savings by contributing to the university's 403(b) and/or the Ohio Deferred Compensation Plan (457).  For more information, refer to <a href="https://www.uc.edu/hr/benefits">www.uc.edu/hr/benefits</a> .	This plan is what is known as a defined contribution plan. You are considered vested immediately upon enrolling in the ARP. In the event of death, your beneficiary (ies) is eligible to receive your account balance. Should you separate from UC, you may request a refund or roll-over of your accumulated contributions.  You will not contribute to Social Security as a public employee in the State of Ohio. You and the university will each contribute 1.45% of your income to Medicare.	This plan offers you a choice of a defined benefit plan, defined contribution plan, and a combined plan. Survivorship benefits may be available in the event of death. Should you separate from UC, you may request a refund or roll-over of your accumulated contributions.  You will not contribute to Social Security as a public employee in the State of Ohio. You and the university will each contribute 1.45% of your income to Medicare.
UNIVERSITY OF UCC	You can contribute the maximum allowed by law.	Your contribution is 10% of your pre-tax eligible earnings.  Effective 7-1-2017 the university contributes 11.56% of eligible pay on your behalf to the ARP and 2.44% to OPERS.	Your contribution is 10% of your pre-tax eligible earnings.  The university contributes 14% of eligible pay on your behalf.  For more information, refer to www. opers.org.

UC Benefits	A	D	<b>Σ</b> : Ω Ο Α	Standard Vision Plan Ti	Waive coverage		
nefits Choose Well	A routine vision refraction exam is covered once per calendar year through an Anthem network provider if you are enrolled in a university medical plan.	Discounts on many types of lens enhancements and other services such as hearing aids and Lasik surgery are included in the Plan.	After a \$25 individual copay lenses in glass or plastic (e.g. single vision, lined bifocal and corrective) are covered once every 12 months. The cost of frames (up to \$130) is covered once every 24 months. Or you can choose contacts (covered up to \$120) instead of glasses (frames and lenses) every 12 months. A separate copay up to \$60 applies to contacts.	The VSP vision plan is a materials only plan. It includes network and non-network providers. If you utilize non- network providers your costs will be higher.	You may elect to waive coverage.	VISION PLAN OPTIONS	
UNIVERSITY OF LOCAL			To obtain information on network providers, log on to <a href="https://www.vsp.com">www.vsp.com</a> .	You will pay for the cost for this plan on a pre-tax basis.			

UCE	Account/ HDHP	Health Savings	РРО	Waive coverage	Spousal/ Dome:
UC Benefits Choose Well	higher.  The Plan features a deductible and 85% co-insurance after the deductible is met. Preventive care is covered without the need to meet a deductible.  The university contributes to the Health Savings Account based upon the employee's annual base pay. Employees may contribute to the HSA also. Total HSA contributions cannot exceed the IRS annual maximum.	The HDHP includes network and non-network providers. If you utilize non-network providers, your costs will be	The PPO plan includes network and non-network providers. If you utilize non-network providers your costs will be higher. The Plan features a deductible and 85% co-insurance after the deductible is met. Preventive care is covered at 100% without the need to meet a deductible.	You may elect to waive coverage.	MEDICAL PLAN OPTIONS  Spousal/ Domestic Partner Surcharge of \$200 per month applies if spouse or domestic partner is eligible for medical coverage through his/her employer but chooses not to enroll.
UNIVERSITY OF UC Cincinnati	employee and covered family members.  To obtain information on network providers and the drug formulary, log on to <a href="www.anthem.com">www.anthem.com</a> . Search using network name Blue Access PPO for both medical plans.	Plan provided at no monthly premium for the	Plan provided at no monthly premium for the employee and covered family members.  To obtain information on network providers and the drug formulary, log on to <a href="https://www.anthem.com">www.anthem.com</a> . Search using network name Blue Access PPO for both medical plans.	You will not receive a benefit credit if you waive coverage.	h his/her employer but chooses not to enroll.

just one way of showing how much we appreciate your hard work. rewarding work environment. The total benefits and compensation received by UC employees ranks favorably with many other large employers. This is This page provides an overview of the many and varied benefits available to UC employees. UC strives to provide a competitive benefits package and a

## RETIREMENT/INSURANCE:

- OPERS/ARP
- 403(b) Tax Deferred Opportunities
- 457 Tax Deferred Opportunities
- Anthem Engage Healthcare Tool

### FINANCIAL:

- Payroll Direct Deposit
- Pre-Tax Payroll Deduction for Parking
- Bearcat Campus Card
- Discounts on Entertainment, Activities, and Services
- **Unum Critical Illness and Accident Plans**
- UC Bookstore 15% Discount
- Liberty Mutual insurance discounts
- Sibcy Cline Real Estate program Comey Shepherd Real Estate program
- Winter Season Days

## WELLNESS SERVICES:

EDUCATION:

UC Libraries

Be Well UC

# SPECIAL SERVICES/PROGRAMS:

- Benefits Fair
- Service Awards
- Motorist Assistance Program
- Retirement/Financial Planning Seminars Campus Shuttle Service
- Campus Recreation Center Discount
- Bearcat Fitness Trail Intramural Sports/Recreation Teams
- Leaves of Absence
- Veteran's Upward Bound Program College Conservatory of Music Entertainment
- Nightwalk Escort Program
- UC Women's Center
- **Development and Training Opportunities**
- **UC Child Care Center**
- UC\*Metro Program
- Bearcat sporting event discounts

For additional information visit our web site at <a href="http://www.uc.edu/hr">http://www.uc.edu/hr</a>. 1-1-19

Benefits

Choose Well



#### Appendix B: SUPERVISOR EVALUATION OF INTERN PERFORMANCE

#### **Supervisor Evaluation of Intern Performance**

Intern:			
Supervisor:			
Evaluation Period:			
Year:			
Date of Evaluation:			
Methods Used in Evaluating Co	mpetency:		
Direct Observation		_Review of Audio/Video	
Documentation Rev		_Case Presentation	
Supervision		_Comments from other faculty/staff	
1. Remedial: Close supervision required on n	ost cases. Significan	t skill development required; remediation	on necessary
2. Beginning/Developing Com			
		supervision required on most cases.	
3. Proficient Competence:	1 /	1 1	
	r intern at completion	n of training program; ready for entry le	evel practice.
<b>4. Advanced Competence:</b> Intern is able to function autono Indicates an area of strength for		ond what is expected for entry level pra	actice.
<b>5. Area of Expertise:</b> Rare rating for internship; internexpected beyond the conclusion		expertise with a level of skill represent	ting that
an intern <i>must improve</i> prior to evaluation; therefore, an intern end of their internship year.	neir completion of the vill not pass internship	s of 2 or lower on any item indicate are eir internship. The final evaluation is the oif they have a score of 2 or lower on a	he exit
Competency 1 - Intern will ac Research	ieve competence in	the area of:	
research or other scholarly active regional, or national level.	ties via professional j	critically evaluate and disseminate publication or presentation at the local,	
Utilizes scholarly literature and clients	other resources to info	orm practice with diverse	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BRO	AD AREA OF COME	PETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:			

Competency 2 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Ethical and Legal Standards	
Demonstrates knowledge of, and acts in accordance with, each of the following:	
The current version of the APA Ethical Principles and Code of Conduct	
Relevant laws, regulations, rules, and policies governing health services psychology at the organizational, local, state, and federal levels	
Relevant professional standards and guidelines	
Recognizes ethical dilemmas as they arise and applies ethical decision-making processes in order to resolve them	
Conducts self in an ethical manner in all professional activities	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 3- Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Individual and Cultural Diver	rsity
Demonstrates an understanding of how one's own personal/cultural history, attitudes, and biases may affect how one understands and interacts with people different from oneself	
Demonstrates knowledge of the current theoretical and empirical knowledge base as it relates to addressing diversity	
Integrates awareness and knowledge of individual and cultural differences in the conduct of professional roles	
Demonstrates the ability to independently apply their knowledge and approach in working effectively with the range of diverse individuals and groups encountered during internship	
Establishes therapeutic alliance with diverse clients	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 4 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Professional Values and Attitud	
Behaves in ways that reflect the values and attitude of psychology	
Engages in self-reflection regarding personal and professional functioning	

Demonstrates awareness of personal and professional strengths, limitations, and growth edges	
Engages in activities to maintain and improve performance, well-being, and professional effectiveness	
Actively seeks feedback, consultation, and supervision when needed.	
Demonstrates openness and responsiveness to feedback and supervision	
Uses supervisory feedback effectively with clients	
Actively participates in and uses clinical team meetings effectively	
Responds professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree of independence as they progress across levels of training	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 5 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Communication and Interper Skills	rsonal
Develops and maintains effective relationships with a wide range of individuals including colleagues, communities, organizations, supervisors, supervisees, and those receiving professional services	
Effectively expresses self verbally and comprehends others' verbal communications.	
Effectively expresses self non-verbally and comprehends others' nonverbal communications	
Produces and comprehends written communications	
Demonstrates effective interpersonal skills and the ability to manage difficult communication well	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 6 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Assessment	
Demonstrates current knowledge of diagnostic classification systems and functional and dysfunctional behaviors	
Demonstrates understanding of human behavior within its context	
Applies knowledge of functional and dysfunctional behaviors including context to the assessment and/or diagnostic process	
Selects and applies assessment methods that draw from the best available empirical literature	

Demonstrates ability to explain the purpose and utility of different types of assessments, including cognitive, objective, personality, projectives, and other assessments	
Effectively interviews assessment clients and gathers relevant history	
Demonstrates appropriate analysis of behavioral observations	
Effectively administers s variety of psychological tests, including cognitive, objective personality, and projective tests	
Interprets assessment results and client history according to current research, professional standards, and professional guidelines to inform case conceptualization, classification, and recommendations	
Incorporates aspects of multicultural identity and upbringing when interpreting results	
Communicates orally and in written documents the findings and implications of assessment in an accurate and effective manner	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 7 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Intervention	
Establishes and maintains effective relationships with recipients of psychological services Identifies presenting concerns, obtains thorough history, and identifies appropriate disposition for clients	
Develops evidence-based intervention plans specific to the service delivery skills  Implements interventions informed by the current scientific literature, assessment findings, diversity characteristics, and contextual variables.	
Demonstrates the ability to apply the relevant research literature to clinical decision making	
Modifies and adapts evidence-based approaches appropriately Evaluates intervention effectiveness, and adapts intervention goals and methods consistent with ongoing evaluation.	
Effectively refers clients to community-based services when they cannot be adequately supported within the CAPS scope.	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 8 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Group Therapy	
Assesses clients for group readiness and fit during group screenings	

Facilitates group establishment of norms to promote a safe climate and group interaction	
Demonstrates knowledge of group stages and therapeutic factors	
Opens group sessions in a manner that promotes interaction and disclosure	
Times interventions to promote group development	
Effectively deals with silence	
Intervenes in a manner appropriate to the topic and overall group themes	
Effectively refers clients to community-based services when they cannot be adequately supported within the CAPS scope	
Tailors developmental approach for individual clients within the group	
Tends to individual and group process dynamics	
Intervenes effectively to stop counterproductive behavior in the group	
Facilitates deeper levels of group interaction and emotion	
Retains the appropriate level of objectivity and distance; keeps good boundaries	
Increases involvement and leadership over time as a co-facilitator in the group	
Closes groups in a manner that helps members summarize and integrate their learning	
Identifies and works effectively with diversity issues as part of the group process	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 9 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Supervision	
Demonstrates knowledge of supervision models and practices	
Applies knowledge of supervision in direct or simulated practice with psychology trainees or other health professionals	
Effectively identifies supervisee's strengths and growth areas	
Effectively provides feedback to a supervisee in formal (evaluation forms) and informal (ongoing throughout supervision experience) ways.	
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	

Competency 10 - Intern will achieve competence in the area of: Consultation and Interprofessional/Interdisciplinary Skills

Demonstrates knowledge and respect for the roles and perspectives of other profess	
Applies knowledge about consultation in direct or simulated (e.g. role played) consultation	sultation
AVERAGE SCORE FOR BROAD AREA OF COMPETENCE:	#DIV/0!
Comments:	
OVERALL RATING (average of broad competence area scores)	#DIV/0!
Comments on Intern's overall strengths:	
Comments on Intern's overall areas for growth:	
Intern and supervisor have reviewed this evaluation and discussed	
feedback:	
Intern Signature Date	
Company of the Compan	
Supervisor Signature Date _	

#### APPENDIX C: INTERN EVALUATION OF SUPERVISOR FORM

#### Trainee Evaluation of Individual Supervisor's Performance

Trainee Name:		
Training Position:		
Supervisor:		
Evaluation Period:		
Year:		
Date of Evaluation:		
1. Attention Needed		
Below expected standards		
2. Improvement Needed		
This is an area of growth for supervisor		
3. Appropriate:		
Supervisor is on target for expectations		
4. Strength Area:		
Supervisor is providing advanced level of supervision in this area.		
5. Expert Area:		
Supervisor has exceeded expectations and is providing uniquely stro	ong supervision in this area.	

The purpose of this form is to provide feedback to both the supervisor and the Director of Training regarding the supervisor's performance at the Counseling Center. The form is to be filled out by the trainee and reviewed with the supervisor. Upon completion, return the signed original to the Director of Training.

My Supervisor...

Creates and maintains a safe, supportive environment for me to grow and learn.	
Provides guidance in the use of a variety of effective interventions (e.g., listening skills, interpretations, therapeutic relationship building, etc.).	
Encourages me to examine myself and how my perceptions/behavior may impact clients.	
Readily shares conceptual understanding as influenced by theoretical orientation and provides space for me to develop a theoretical orientation.	
Regularly reviews videotaped sessions during supervision and provides constructive feedback.	
Is helpful in discussing and assisting in treatment planning.	
Demonstrates awareness and increased consciousness regarding issues of diversity (e.g., multi-ethnic/cross-cultural, gender, LGBTQ, age, disability status, religion/spirituality, socioeconomic status, etc.).	

Applies diversity awareness in a meaningful way in working with clients, trainees, and colleagues.	
Provides timely review and feedback regarding clinical records.	
Provides guidance in resolving crises, making appropriate referrals, and dealing with difficult client issues.	
Is receptive to feedback and actively applies it to our supervision.	
Maintains professional behavior and interacts in a positive manner with colleagues and trainees.	
Understands, behaves, and provides guidance in accordance with the APA Ethical Principles, State Law, and prevailing standards for professional conduct.	
Assists in meeting supervision goals.	
Is accessible to me and available for unscheduled consultation/supervision.	
Actively encourges the timely and successful completion of my internship.	
Serves as a role model to me and other trainees.	
Supports me in navigating individual and cultural diversity issues.	
AVERAGE SCORE:	#DIV/0!
TRAINEE'S SUMMARY EVALUATION: Provide a brief summary of your evaluation of the	
supervisor. Identify strengths and areas for growth.	
Intern and supervisor have reviewed this evaluation and discussed feedback:	
Intern and supervisor have reviewed this evaluation and discussed feedback:	
Intern and supervisor have reviewed this evaluation and discussed feedback:	
Intern and supervisor have reviewed this evaluation and discussed feedback:  Intern Signature	

#### APPENDIX D: INTERN EVALUATION OF GROUP SUPERVISOR FORM

#### **Group Therapy Evaluation Form: Intern Evaluation of Supervisor**

(Intern Feedback for Staff Co-facilitator)

Intern:	
Supervisor:	
Semester:	
Year:	
elaborating comments withis by marking the N/A	isor and supervision experience using the following scale. Provide whenever appropriate. If a category was not covered this semester, indicate a category. Please use the expected developmental level of a "typical" internating strength and improvement areas.
	attention needed (below expected
A	standards)
M	improvement needed/growth area
T	on target for expectations
	strength area (beyond level of
S	expectations)
N/A	not applicable at this time
I. Supervision Cons	iderations (My supervisor)
•	1. scheduled an ongoing time for supervision meetings and was available
	to me for consultation.
	2. set up an effective system to write and receive group notes in a timely
	way.
	3. clarified issues of confidentiality and security.
	4. helped me set developmentally appropriate goals.
	5. effectively gave a balance of support and challenging feedback in supervision.
	6. addressed and worked through any disagreements or conflicts that occurred in supervision.
	7. showed awareness of group ethics, including consideration of diverse clientele.
	8. helped me to understand the evaluation process in supervision.
II. Group Therapy S stronger skills in)	Skills (My supervision and co-facilitation experience helped me to gain  1. better understanding how to plan and process group interactions.
	2. assessing clients for group readiness and fit during group screenings.
	3. facilitating the group in establishing norms to promote a safe climate and group interaction.
	<ul> <li>4. demonstrating knowledge of group stages and therapeutic factors.</li> <li>5. opening group sessions in a manner that promotes interaction and disclosure.</li> </ul>

	7. dealing effectively v 8. intervening appropriate appropriate group. 9. determining the appropriate group. 10. understanding and 11. intervening effective 12. facilitating deeper giving, surface discussion 13. retaining the appropriate good boundaries. 14. increasing involver	ropriate developmental approach for each client in following individual and group process dynamics. Wely to stop counterproductive behavior in the group group interaction and emotion (avoided adviceon).  priate level of objectivity and distance, keeping ment and leadership as a co-facilitator in the group.  a manner that helped members summarize and
16. identifying and working effectively with diversity issues as part of the group process.  III. Please note strengths and growth areas; providing evidence based rationales for any "A, M, or S" scores.		
IV. Progress on goals	s/continued areas of gro	wth/comments:
9 9	Q	
Intern's signature: Date: Cofacilitator's signatu Date:	re:	



Kea Brown, PsyD.

**Training Director** 

Counseling & Psychological Services (CAPS)
Division of Student Affairs
225 Calhoun Street, Suite 200
Cincinnati, OH 45219

Phone: (513) 556-0648 Fax: (513) 556-2302

Date

Verification of Completed Review of CAPS Internship Program Training Material	
I,, attest that I have read and understand the UC CAPS Doctoral Internship Program in Professional Psychology Training Manual. I agree to follow the procedures, rules, and policies located in the intern manual during my internship year at the UC Counseling & Psychological Services.	
In addition, my signature denotes my understanding of the importance CAPS places on multicultural competence and meeting the needs of all students that seek services at CAPS. I agree to maintain a willingness to provide therapeutic services to any student that is scheduled at CAPS. If I have concern about providing services to a particular student, I agree to communicate this to my supervisor and to be open to processing this concern and determining the best resolve in conjunction with my supervisor and if needed with the Training Director.	
If I have any additional questions or concerns, I agree to consult with the Training Director, Associate Director, or Executive Director to clarify how to handle or resolve a question or concern.	
Doctoral Psychology Intern  Date	